IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. FORD, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No. 95,972

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify that the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of fifty-one (51) numbered volumes and one (1) supplemental volume. References to the record will be by volume number and page number.

Appellant, James Dennis Ford, was the defendant below, and the State of Florida was the plaintiff. In this brief, Ford will be referred to by name, or as Appellant. The other party will be referred to as the State or as Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 30, 1997, a Charlotte County grand jury returned a nine-count indictment against Appellant, James Dennis Ford. (Vol. 1, pp. 13-15) Count I charged Ford with the premeditated murder of Gregory Philip Malnory "by cutting and/or bludgeoning." (Vol. 1, p. Count II charged Ford with felony murder of Malnory, with 14) robbery as the underlying felony. (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count III charged that Ford robbed Malnory of his wallet and its contents, during which Ford carried a firearm. (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count IV charged Ford with the premeditated murder of Kimberly Ann Malnory "by cutting, bludgeoning, or shooting." (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count V charged Ford with felony murder of Kimberly Malnory, with sexual battery as the underlying felony. (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count VI charged Ford with felony murder of Kimberly Malnory, with robbery as the underlying felony. (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count VII charged Ford with the sexual battery of Kimberly Malnory, during which he used or threatened to use a firearm. (Vol. 1, p. 14) Count VIII alleged that Ford robbed Kimberly Malnory of clothing and/or U.S. currency, during which he carried a firearm. (Vol. 1, p. 15) And Count IX charged Ford with child abuse of Maranda Malnory¹ in that he unlawfully and willingly deprived her, or allowed her "to be

¹ The first name of the child is spelled two different ways in the record: M-i-r-a-n-d-a and M-a-r-a-n-d-a. In this brief, Appellant will employ the latter spelling, which is the spelling used in the indictment.

deprived of, necessary food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment, or did knowingly inflict or permit the infliction of physical or mental injury to said child." (Vol. 1, p. 15) All offenses allegedly occurred on or about April 6, 1997. (Vol. 1, p. 13)

On January 4, 1999, the State filed a "Notice of Nolle Prosequi" as to Counts II, III, VI, and VIII of the indictment. (Vol. 7, p. 1219)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial beginning on February 22, 1999, with the Honorable Cynthia A. Ellis presiding. (Vol. 26, p. 1010-Vol. 43, p. 3728) On March 8, 1999, Appellant's jury found him guilty of the first degree murders of both Malnorys, guilty of sexual battery of Kimberly Malnory, and guilty of child abuse of Maranda Malnory. (Vol. 11, pp. 2100-2103; Vol. 43, pp. 3721-3722) Penalty phase was conducted on April 20-April 23, 1999. (Vol. 45, p. 3877-Vol. 50, p. 4697) After receiving additional evidence from the defense, and rebuttal evidence from the State, the jury returned recommendations by votes of 11-1 that James Dennis Ford be sentenced to death for each of the instant homicides. (Vol. 13, pp. 2357-2358; Vol. 50, pp. 4691-4692)

A <u>Spencer</u>² hearing was held before Judge Ellis on May 3, 1999, at which the court received victim impact evidence and heard arguments of counsel. (Vol. 51, pp. 4699-4731)

² <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

Sentencing was held before Judge Ellis on June 3, 1999. (Vol. The court sentenced James Ford to 19.79 years 51, pp. 4733-4770) in prison for sexual battery with a firearm, with a three-year minimum mandatory, and to a concurrent sentence of five years in prison for felony child abuse. (Vol. 15, pp. 2770-2771; Vol. 51, pp. 4741-4742) The court sentenced Ford to death for each of the two murders of which he was convicted. (Vol. 15, pp. 2715-2732; Vol. 51, pp. 4744-4769) The court found the following aggravating circumstances, all of which she afforded "great weight" (Vol. 15, pp. 2716-2721): (1) the capital felonies were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; (2) the capital felonies were homicides which were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; (3) the capital felony was committed while Ford was engaged in commission of a sexual battery; and (4) Ford was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person [based upon his contemporaneous convictions for the two homicides].

The court discussed five statutory mitigating circumstances in her sentencing order (Vol. 15, pp. 2722-2727): (1) Ford has no significant history of prior criminal activity ("<u>some weight</u>"); (2) the capital felony was committed while Ford was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance ("<u>no weight</u> whatsoever"); (3) Ford acted under extreme duress or under the substan-

tial domination of another person ("<u>no weight</u> whatsoever"); (4) Ford's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired ("<u>no weight</u> whatsoever"); and (5) Ford's age at the time of the offenses ("<u>very little weight</u>"). The court also discussed a number of nonstatutory mitigating factors (Vol. 15, pp. 2727-2730): (1)

Ford was a devoted son ("very little weight"); (2) Ford was a loyal friend ("very little weight"); (3) Ford is learning disabled ("no weight whatsoever"); (4) Ford suffers from mild organic brain impairment ("no weight whatsoever"); (5) Ford's developmental age is 14 ("no weight whatsoever"); (6) Ford's family history of alcoholism ("no weight whatsoever"); (7) Ford's own chronic alcoholism ("very little weight"); (8) Ford's diabetes (proven to exist, but did "not serve as valid mitigation"); (9) Ford's excellent jail record and jail conduct ("some weight"); (10) Ford's self-improvement while in jail ("some weight"); (11) lack of intervention by the school system for Ford's developmental impairments when he was a child ("very little weight"); (12) emotional impairment at the time of the crime ("no weight whatsoever"); (13) mentally impaired at the time of the crime ("no weight whatsoever"); (14) Ford's ability to conform his conduct at the time of the crime was impaired ("no weight whatsoever"); (15) Ford was not a sociopath or psychopath ("no weight whatsoever"); (16)

Ford is not antisocial ("<u>no weight</u> whatsoever"); and (17) the alternative sentence of life in prison without release ("<u>no weight</u> whatsoever").

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on July 1, 1999. (Vol. 15, p. 2779)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase--State's Case

Appellant, James Dennis Ford, who was called "Jimbo," worked at the South Florida Sod Farm as a trackhoe and heavy equipment operator. (Vol. 36, pp. 2504, 2539-2540, 2551, 2565, 2574) Greg Malnory also worked at the farm; he was the "fuel man," whose job was to deliver all the fuel to the tractors and other equipment used on the farm. (Vol. 36, p. 2503, 2539, 2541, 2552, 2566) He also helped with mechanic work at the shop. (Vol. 36, p. 2539, 2541, 2552) Malnory was a dependable worker who usually showed up for work on time. (Vol. 36, pp. 2503, 2514-2516, 2552, 2568)

Ford liked being out in the woods, and he had a campsite on the sod farm property that he occasionally used. (Vol. 36, p. 2524)

Once the workday or workweek was over, employees of the 7,000acre sod farm were not allowed back on the property without consent of management. (Vol. 36, p. 2567) However, they could hunt and fish there on weekends if they obtained prior approval to do so. (Vol. 36, pp. 2497, 2564, 2566-2567) On Saturday afternoon, April 5, 1997, Greg Malnory asked Raymond Caruthers, the general manager, if he and his wife and child could come onto the farm to fish the next day, and Caruthers granted his permission. (Vol. 36, pp. 2563, 2566-2567) Malnory made no mention of Jimbo Ford, nor did Ford ask for permission to come to the property on Sunday to fish. (Vol. 36, pp. 2566-2567)

Barbara Caruthers lived on the South Florida Sod Farm and knew Jimbo Ford as an employee there. (Vol. 36, p. 2573) Around 1:30 on

the afternoon of Sunday, April 6, 1997, Caruthers had a brief conversation with Ford as he was driving into the farm in his red pickup truck. (Vol. 36, pp. 2576-2577) Ford asked if she had seen Greg and Kim, as he was to meet them there to go fishing, and she said no. (Vol. 36, pp. 2577, 2589) Ford told Caruthers he was going to the shop to put water into his truck. (Vol. 36, p. 2577) As Caruthers was leaving the farm to go to Wal-Mart, she met the Malnorys' blue pickup truck coming into the farm, with Greg driving. (Vol. 36, pp. 2575, 2578)

Keith Worley, a mechanic at the farm, was working that Sunday afternoon around 3:00 or 3:30 when Ford pulled up in his truck and worked briefly with a dragline. (Vol. 36, p. 2505-2506, 2527-2528) Greg and Kim Malnory arrived a couple of minutes after Ford with their baby, Maranda, and said they were going fishing. (Vol. 36, pp. 2507-2508) Ford asked if they had some fishing hooks for catfish. (Vol. 36, pp. 2508-2509) He seemed a little bit quiet to Worley, but Worley did not notice any evidence that Ford was intoxicated. (Vol. 36, pp. 2509, 2510) The four people drove off in the two trucks to go fishing. (Vol. 36, pp. 2510, 2512)

Sergio Silva was also working at the farm that afternoon, and saw the two trucks driving on the dike road, with Ford's truck in

the lead. (Vol. 36, pp. 2480-2485) He put the time as between 1:00 and 2:00. (Vol. 36, p. 2481-2482) He saw the blue truck go down into an area and "stop like they were fishing from there." (Vol. 36, pp. 2485-2486) The red truck also turned down that way, but Silva did not see where it went. (Vol. 36, pp. 2485-2486) The blue

truck was still parked in the same place when Silva left the sod farm at 5:00 to go home. (Vol 36, p. 2488)

Between 5:30 and 6:00, Barbara Caruthers saw Ford leaving in his pickup truck, driving faster than he usually did. (Vol. 36, pp. 2579-2580) Caruthers waved, and Ford looked at her, but made no response. (Vol. 36, p. 2580)

That afternoon, sometime between 4:00 and 6:00, Jimbo Ford came to the home of Juan Gutierrez, who had known Ford for about two years. (Vol. 36, pp. 2594-2595, 2597)³ Ford "needed gas in order to keep going." (Vol. 36, p. 2595) He had blood on his clothes, which he explained came from a hog he had killed. (Vol. 36, p. 2596) Gutierrez could not locate any gas for Ford, but his brother, Fransisco, was able to help him. (Vol. 36, p. 2596, 2599) Juan Gutierrez did not want his brother to go with Ford, because Ford "looked strange and he looked like he was drunk." (Vol. 36, p. 2596) Juan Gutierrez had "knowledge about people" which he gained

³ At Ford's trial, Gutierrez testified through an interpreter. (Vol. 36, pp. 2590-2600)

from an 11-month course he took at the police academy in Mexico. (Vol. 36, p. 2596) Juan Gutierrez gave Ford a beer, which he took with him when he left with Fransisco. (Vol. 36, p. 2597)

Fransisco Gutierrez had known Jimbo Ford since 1986. (Vol. 36, p. 2601) He was able to obtain a quart of gas, but it was not enough to start Ford's truck, which was parked about a quarter of a mile from the Gutierrez residence beside a drainage ditch or canal. (Vol. 36, pp. 2602-2612) Using a small chain, Gutierrez towed Ford's truck, with Ford driving it, to a Circle K in Nocatee, where Ford pumped some gas into it, and the men started the truck using jumper cables. (Vol. 36, pp. 2612-2613, 2624) Ford was drunk that day, but "[h]e was still able to do things." (Vol. 36, p. 2614, 2624) When Gutierrez asked Ford if he had been working that day, he said that he had, and said that they had been fishing and hunting and everything else, but did not tell Gutierrez who he was with. (Vol. 36, pp. 2614-2617) Ford's clothes were dirty, which was not unusual, due to the kind of work he did, operating heavy machinery. (Vol. 36, pp. 2615, 2617) Gutierrez observed blood on Ford's forehead and the palms of his hands, but did not see any on his shirt. (Vol. 36, pp. 2615, 2620) Ford explained that sometimes he bled very easily because he had "sugar", or diabetes, and was trying to pinch his arm to demonstrate this, but no blood came out. (Vol. 36, pp. 2615-2619, 2626) Ford also mentioned that his dog, which Gutierrez saw in the back of Ford's truck that afternoon, had

caught a hog, but it was too small, and Ford took it away from the dog. (Vol. 36, pp. 2605, 2620, 2623) Gutierrez understood that the blood that was on Ford came from the hog. (Vol. 36, p. 2620) It seemed to Fransisco Gutierrez that Ford was in a hurry, anxious to get where he wanted to go. (Vol. 36, p. 2625)

The following morning, Monday, April 7, 1997, was foggy. (Vol. 36) Greg Malnory did not show up for work. (Vol. 36, pp. 2514, 2541-2542, 2552-2553, 2568) Attempts to contact him at home were unsuccessful. (Vol. 36, pp. 2515, 2541, 2553) When the fog cleared, Sergio Silva saw Malnory's blue pickup truck in the same place he had seen it on Sunday afternoon. (Vol. 36, pp. 2489-2492, 2542) Early that afternoon, he went with Terry Kimmel, another sod farm employee, to check on Malnory. (Vol. 36, pp. 2492, 2541-2543, 2554) Bobby Fussell, the farm manager, was right behind them. (Vol. 36, pp. 2543, 2554-2555) They found Kim Malnory lying next to the truck, face down,⁴ and Greg Malnory in a field some distance from the truck; both people appeared to be dead. (Vol. 36, pp. 2492-2496, 2543-2545, 2555-2557) The baby was alive in the truck, and there was a dog underneath the vehicle. (Vol. 36, pp. 2494, 2544, 2557) The doors to the pickup were open, and the girl had mosquito bites all over her. (Vol. 36, p. 2557)

⁴ Detective Gerald Tollini of the Charlotte County Sheriff's Office testified that the female victim was lying on her back when he arrived. (Vol. 33, p. 2164)

Raymond Caruthers was the fourth person to arrive at the scene. (Vol. 36, pp. 2569) He observed Greg Malnory lying on his stomach, and Kimberly Malnory lying next to the pickup. (Vol. 36, pp. 2569-2570) He called 911 and requested that the sheriff's department send deputies there. (Vol. 36, p. 2569)

When Keith Worley saw James Ford that morning, he was quiet, not the normal Jimbo. (Vol. 36, p. 2514) After the Malnorys were found, Bobby Fussell called Worley on the radio, and he and Ford drove to the scene. (Vol. 36, pp. 2516-2517) Worley did not remember giving Ford directions as to where to go, but it "was just kind of a nervous time because [Worley] did not know what was going on." (Vol. 36, p. 2517) As they were traveling to the scene, Ford mentioned that he had loaned the Malnorys his rifle the day before to go hog hunting. (Vol. 36, pp. 2517, 2534)

Bobby Fussell noticed several scratches on Jimbo Ford that Monday; the biggest was on one of his arms. (Vol. 36, p. 2558) Ford was wearing short sleeves. (Vol. 36, pp. 2533, 2559-2560) Keith Worley also noticed a scratch on Ford's right forearm that had iodine on it (Vol. 36, pp. 2521-2522, 2532-2533)

When Ford arrived at the reservoir, he did not approach the scene, but remained at the top of the levy road. (Vol. 36, pp. 2570-2571) Caruthers asked him if he had any idea what happened, and he responded that he did not, that it was just a terrible thing. (Vol. 36, p. 2571) Caruthers directed Ford to go down to an

intersection to direct the police when they arrived. (Vol. 36, pp. 2571-2572)

After the deputies arrived, the dog was gotten from underneath the truck,⁵ and Maranda Malnory was removed from her car seat. (Vol. 33, p. 2138) She had what appeared to be blood on her clothing, but no injuries other than insect bites, and she was not in acute distress. (Vol. 33, pp. 2140-2142) Maranda was taken to St. Joseph's Hospital, and was later turned over to relatives. (Vol. 33, p. 2156)

Captain Anthony Penland of the Charlotte County Sheriff's Office observed that there was a fishing pole in the back of the blue pickup truck, and fishing line underneath Greg Malnory. (Vol. 35, pp. 2406-2409)

Crime scene technician Frank Toolan noticed that there were beer bottles in the back of the truck and on the ground. (Vol. 33, p. 2234)

Dr. Rosa Robison, a surgical pathologist, who was working as an assistant medical examiner in Charlotte County on April 7, 1997, went to the sod farm late that afternoon. (Vol. 34, pp. 2319, 2324, 2355) She obtained specimens from the female victim, who was

⁵ There was a discrepancy in the testimony regarding how the dog was persuaded to come out from under the truck. Jeffrey Philbin, a paramedic who responded to the scene, said that the dog had to be pepper sprayed (Vol. 33, pp. 2138, 2141), while Detective Gerald Tollini testified that he merely called the dog, and it came to him. (Vol. 33, pp. 2148-2149, 2159-2160)

wearing a bathing suit that was cut or ripped at the crotch. (Vol. 34, pp. 2326-2328, 2335) Robison observed some oval-shaped discolorations on the inner sides of the female's thighs that were consistent with thumbprints, and were made when she was alive. (Vol. 34, pp. 2334-2335, 2348-2352)

Dr. Manfred Clark Borges, the medical examiner, performed autopsies on both victims on April 8. (Vol. 35, p. 2417) He did not find any thumb-size bruises or other bruises on the inside of Kimberly Malnory's thighs, no any visible trauma to her sexual organs. (Vol. 35, p. 2460) He found that she had suffered nine chopping-type sharp force injuries to the head, as well as a contact gunshot wound to the roof of her mouth. (Vol. 35, pp. 2419-2420, 2426, 2430) There was bruising to the back portions of her extremities indicative of "defense injuries." (Vol. 35, pp. 2420-2421, 2424-2425) Her death, which was not instantaneous, resulted from a combination of the sharp force injuries and the gunshot. (Vol. 35, pp. 2431-2432, 2438) Greg Malnory had incurred seven sharp force injuries, including one that cut his jugular vein. (Vol 35, pp. 2436-2437, 2440) He also had a gunshot to the head that had been fired from some distance and from somewhat behind and to his right. (Vol. 35, pp. 2436-2437, 2439) His death also was caused by sharp force injuries and the gunshot wound. (Vol. 35, pp. 2437-2438, 2443) There was no alcohol or drugs detected in the system of either victim. (Vol. 35, p. 2470)

On April 12, 1997, deputies from the Charlotte County Sheriff's Office conducted a search of Jimbo Ford's house in Arcadia and seized an Old Timer's knife that was on a nightstand in a bedroom. (Vol. 38, pp. 2764-2765, 2770-2771)⁶

On April 17, 1997, Sergeant James Kenville of the Charlotte County Sheriff's Department discovered and retrieved the stock of a rifle from a drainage canal in the area where Jimbo's Ford's truck had run out of gas on April 6. (Vol. 37, pp. 2641-2646) This stock was from a .22 bolt action, single-shot Remington rifle that Richard Bennett had traded to Jimbo Ford about three years before the trial. (Vol. 37, pp. 2650-2653) Bennett had carved the words "Old Betsy" into the stock when he was a kid. (Vol. 37, p. 2651) In trade for this rifle, Bennett received a .22 semiautomatic rifle with a scope on it from Ford. (Vol 37, p. 2652)

The State also presented evidence regarding DNA testing that was performed at the Florida Department of Law Enforcement Laboratory in Tampa and at a private lab in Nashville, Tennessee called Microdiagnostics. (Vol. 38, p. 2802-Vol. 42, p. 3410) The FDLE lab performed PCR (polymerase chain reaction) and RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphisms) testing, while Microdiagnostics used a newer and more sensitive form of testing called STR (short tandem repeats). (Vol. 38, p. 2836; Vol. 39, pp.

⁶ Keith Worley testified that Jimbo Ford routinely carried a pocketknife that looked just like the one that was seized from Ford's residence. (Vol. 36, pp. 2524-2526)

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