### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. FORD,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95972

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

For example, the failure to include an essential element of a crime does not necessarily render an indictment so defective that it will not support a judgment of conviction when the indictment references a specific section of the criminal code which sufficiently details all the elements of the offense.

520 So. 2d at 265. Thus, even if a particular statutory element is not expressly stated in the indictment, the charge will be sufficient as long as the correct statute, wherein the element may be found, is cited. See also, <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 360 (Fla.) (defendant's pretrial motion to dismiss improperly granted where, although the element of premeditation was not specifically alleged, the indictment alleged attempted first-degree murder in violation of Section 782.04, Florida Statutes), <u>cert. denied</u>, 479 U.S. 1022 (1986); <u>State v. Wimberly</u>, 459 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (reversing relief that had been granted by the circuit court,

sitting in its appellate capacity, which had found that information referring to "notice against trespass," and citing to Section 810.09 was fundamentally defective).

Ford's reliance on State v. Gray, 435 So. 2d 816, 818 (Fla. 1983), is misplaced because Gray is distinguishable on this point. In Gray, the district court had ruled that the statute was only constitutional if a judicially created element of scienter was imposed; since this element was not charged in the indictment or detailed in the particular statute cited, the district court found the indictment to be fundamentally defective. This Court reversed, holding that scienter was not required to uphold the statute, but agreed with the general proposition that an information which completely fails to charge a crime may be challenged at any time.

Ford also complains that his indictment heading cited the crime as "child abuse" rather than the "child neglect" which was thereafter charged and proven. While such a defect may have been found if Ford had moved to dismiss the indictment prior to trial, any defect in this regard was waived by the lack of a pretrial objection. Williams v. State, 547 So. 2d 710, 711 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (defect in information charging sale of cocaine as third degree felony when defendant was convicted of second degree felony was waived since the body of the information sufficiently advised the defendant that he was charged with a second degree felony).

Thus, although the language of the child abuse charge in this

case did not specifically include an allegation that Ford was a caregiver or had assumed a duty of care toward Maranda, such omission was not fatal to the indictment since the particular statute involved was provided. Therefore, the trial court did not err in permitting the child abuse charge to be submitted to the jury.

Ford also argues that his conviction for child abuse must be vacated because the evidence below was insufficient to establish that he was a caregiver or owed any duty of care to Maranda. This issue presents a factual question which was resolved by the jury against Ford, and the jury's verdict is supported by competent, substantial evidence. There is no dispute that Ford, having killed both of Maranda's parents, left her strapped in her car seat in an open pickup truck in a remote wooded area, where she was not discovered for nearly twenty-four hours. Maranda was dehydrated, flushed from the heat, and had numerous insect bites as a result of having been left at the scene.

A "caregiver" is defined by statute to include anyone "responsible for the child's welfare." § 827.01(1), Fla. Stat. Clearly, by killing the parents of an eighteen-month-old baby in an isolated location, Ford assumed responsibility for the child's welfare.

The jury in this case was instructed:

Before you can find the Defendant guilty of child abuse, the State must prove the

following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: A -- number one, James Dennis Ford knowingly and willfully inflicted physical or mental injury upon Maranda Malnory; and, two, James Dennis Ford had assumed responsibility fo rthe temporary or permanent care and maintenance of Maranda Malnory. Three, Maranda Malnory was under the age of 18 years or B, number one, James Dennis Ford knowingly and willfully failed to provide Maranda Malnory with food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment; and, two, the food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment were necessary to maintain the physical and mental health of Maranda Malnory; and, three, a prudent person would consider food, clothing, shelter or treatment were essential for the well-being of Maranda Malnory; and, four, James Dennis Ford had assumed responsibility for the temporary or permanent care and maintenance of Maranda Malnory; and, five, Maranda Malnory was under the age of 18 years.

#### $(V43/3699-3700).^{2}$

The evidence presented below supports the jury's verdict of guilty on this charge. Ford admits that leaving Maranda unattended "was a by-product of what happened at the sod farm," (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 41-42), but claims he could not be convicted because there was no proof of deliberate harm. However, no such proof is necessary to sustain a conviction for child neglect. On these facts, Ford's conviction for child [abuse] must be affirmed.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ This instruction, crafted by defense counsel and accepted by the State and the trial judge (V43/3543-45), added an element that Ford was a caregiver to the first alternative of child abuse, although the statute does not impose this element.

#### ISSUE IV

# WHETHER FORD IS ENTITLED TO A NEW SENTENCING PROCEEDING DUE TO THE STATE'S PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT.

The remainder of Ford's claims dispute the imposition of his death sentence. His initial penalty phase claim asserts that statements by the prosecutor during the State's closing argument require that a new sentencing proceeding be conducted. Ford specifically challenges four areas addressed by the prosecutor: the remark that justice requires the punishment to "fit the crime;" the comments that Ford had "no excuse" for his actions and that the support he had from family and friends made the crime worse; the reference to sympathy; and the suggestion that Ford was not remorseful. As will be seen, however, Ford has again failed to demonstrate that he is entitled to any relief in this issue.

The prosecutor opened his remarks to the jury by stating:

Ladies and gentlemen, there is one common thread that runs throughout our criminal law that is absolutely essential for those laws to truly produce justice. And that is that people must be held accountable for their actions; that is, punishment must fit the crime.

(V50/4579). The trial court's overruling of the defense objection to this statement was correct. Although Ford claims that this statement told jurors to limit their consideration of mitigating evidence, that claim is not supported when the prosecutor's closing argument is considered in its totality. Clearly, the State never

suggested that the jurors should not consider the extensive evidence about Ford's background and character in determining the appropriate sentence to recommend. In fact, the prosecutor followed his opening comment with the statement that "This penalty phase of the trial is intended to examine the nature of the crime and any mitigating circumstances to determine what penalty will justly hold the defendant accountable for his actions; that is, what punishment truly fits the crime when compared to the mitigation that you have heard" (V50/3581).

The prosecutor specifically addressed the mitigating evidence which had been presented, including testimony from family and friends about Ford's good deeds, his alcohol use, his low intelligence, his medical problems, his childhood -- and discussed why they did not outweigh the aggravating factors in this case (V50/4587-89, 4592, 4599, 4604-05). Hitchcock v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S239 (Fla. March 23, 2000), cited by Ford, is easily distinguishable. In that case, the prosecutor told the jury that the defendant's poverty and living circumstances were "not mitigating in this case, at all, because they don't give us any understanding of why he did what he did." The comment in this case that the punishment should fit the crime did not encourage the jury to ignore any particular mitigating evidence, and therefore the reliance on Hitchcock is misplaced.

Furthermore, even if any similarity with Hitchcock is

discerned, the comments herein would be harmless just as they were in that case. In finding the remarks to be harmless in <a href="Hitchcock">Hitchcock</a>, this Court noted that the prosecutor also discussed the proper role of mitigation, that thirteen witnesses had discussed Hitchcock's deprivation and background, and that the trial judge had found and weighed this mitigation. These factors are all present in this case as well.

Additionally, in the instant case, the judge did not simply instruct the jury to consider the statutory mitigator of any aspect of Ford's character, record, or background; rather, specifically advised them that relevant mitigation could include "devoted son, loyal friend, learning disabled, mild organic brain impairment, developmental age of defendant, family alcoholism, chronic alcoholism, diabetic, excellent jail record and conduct, self-improvement, lack of intervention as a child, emotionally impaired at the time of the crime, mentally impaired at the time of the crime, ability to conform conduct impaired at the time of the crime, not a sociopath, psychopath, not antisocial, and life sentences without release" (V50/4683). Thus, there is reasonable possibility that the prosecutor's comments could have tainted the strong jury recommendations of eleven to one or the sentences of death imposed in this case.

As to the prosecutor's comment that Ford had "no excuse" for his actions, and that having the support of his family and friends

"In a lot of ways makes the crime itself that he committed worse," no reversible error has been shown. Similar comments were rejected as a basis for relief in Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1083 (1998). In Moore, the prosecutor acknowledged the mitigation that had been presented by family and friends that had loved Moore, had nurtured him, had watched him doing well in school, and playing football; and then stated "it may sound like mitigation, but to me it's the most -well, I would submit to you that it's the most aggravating factor of all." The defense attorney had objected in Moore and made the same argument presented herein, that the prosecutor had tried to turn mitigation into aggravating factors, but this Court rejected the claim, holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the objection, and noting that the comments were not "of such a nature as to taint the jury's recommendation of death." Of course, as in Moore, the trial judge in this case instructed the jury repeatedly that closing arguments were not to be considered as evidence or as instructions on the law  $(\nabla 50/4579, 4608-09, 4620).$ 

Ford's complaint regarding the prosecutor's remarks about sympathy is also without merit. In <u>Davis v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 1182, 1192 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 522 U.S. 1127 (1998), this Court rejected the claim "that the prosecutor improperly misled the jurors into believing that they should not be swayed by any

sympathy." Although Ford also relies on Hitchcock for his claim of error with regard to the prosecutor telling the jury not to be swayed by sympathy, this Court's opinion in Hitchcock did not specifically address the comments in that case on sympathy. When the prosecutor below advised the jury not to consider sympathy, the defense objection that the comments were "integrating our mitigation evidence" and not proper was overruled (V50/4590-91). defense Curiously, although the now complains about prosecutor's comments on sympathy, defense counsel below also advised the jury that they were not asking for sympathy, and that "Sympathy doesn't play a role in this" (V50/4647).

Finally, Ford's concern with the prosecutor's comments about Ford's lack of remorse is without merit. Ford's brief asserts that he did not present remorse as a mitigator, and did not adduce testimony that Ford was remorseful (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 47). These assertions are serious misstatements of the record. In questioning defense witness Dr. William Mosman, defense counsel asked him to summarize his clinical opinions about Ford (V48/4285). Dr. Mosman went on to identify a number of mitigating factors, including that "There is, from a clinical point of view, remorse" (V48/4292). Mosman went on to testify that Ford was deeply saddened and hurt by the murders, and had feelings about them; he also noted, in explaining why Ford should not be diagnosed as antisocial, that an antisocial person has a lack of remorse, and in

this case "We find the exact opposite" (V48/4296).

The prosecutor discussed testimony about remorse for about a page in the transcript before defense counsel asked to approach the bench. The judge indicated that she thought the prosecutor was commenting on the weight of the expert's testimony, and was supported by the evidence (V50/4607-08). Defense counsel agreed, "And I have no problem with that," but stated he did not want the prosecutor characterizing remorse as a mitigator that had not been proven (V50/4608). The judge granted the defense request to instruct the jury to disregard the prosecutor's comment and also reminded the jurors that attorney arguments "are not to be considered by you during your deliberations" (V50/4609).

Clearly the State cannot argue lack of remorse as an aggravating factor, but where, as here, the defense presents testimony that the defendant had remorse, such testimony is properly subject to prosecutorial comment. In addition, any possible impropriety in these comments was cured by the trial court's immediate remarks to the jury. Thomas, 748 So. 2d at 984. Once again, no error has been demonstrated.

When the prosecutor's argument in this case is compared with those discussed in recent decisions from this Court on the bounds of proper prosecutorial argument, the lack of merit to the instant claim is evident. Compare, <u>Ruiz v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 1, 8-9 (Fla. 1999) (prosecutors obtained conviction and sentence in number of

improper ways, including invoking power and resources of the State; demeaning and ridiculing the defendant; characterizing defendant as archetypical liar and then equating truth with justice and justice with a conviction; and by appealing to jurors' raw emotions); <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 411, 419 (Fla. 1998) (noting number of improper penalty phase arguments, including injecting elements of fear and emotion into deliberations; inviting jurors to disregard the law; suggesting that a vote for life would be irresponsible and a violation of jurors' sworn duty; violating the Golden Rule and offering speculative interpretation of the facts; making personal attacks on mother of defendant; telling the jury to show the defendant the same mercy that he showed the victim; and urging the jury to send a message to the community). The comments challenged by Ford in this case stand in stark contrast to those repeatedly condemned by this Court in other cases.

Thus, when each of the allegations of prosecutorial misconduct from the State's penalty phase argument are considered, no error has been demonstrated. Any impropriety in any of the challenged remarks discussed in this issue could not have affected the ultimate result. This Court has denied relief in a number of cases with comments more questionable that those presented herein, with death sentences imposed on less aggravating and involving more mitigation, and a closer jury recommendation for death. See, Reese v. State, 694 So. 2d 678, 685 (Fla. 1997) (no error in prosecutor's

use of story about a "cute little puppy" that "grew into a vicious dog"); Jackson v. State, 704 So. 2d 500, 507 (Fla. 1997) (no error in claim that prosecutor encouraged juror to send law and order message to the community); Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997) (prosecutor's comments impugning defense counsel, referring to expert witnesses as hired guns, and violating Golden Rule were harmless); Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985) (prosecutor's impermissible comments on right to silence, Golden Rule violation, and appeal to emotions and fears of jury were harmless). Relief must be denied in this case as well.

#### ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING FACTOR AND APPLYING THIS FACTOR TO FORD.

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